## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KAREN IRVEN,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

v.

3768

# DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES,

Defendant/Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 94,926

Second DCA Case No. 97-05373

## AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER KAREN IRVEN

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Second District, State of Florida

Peter J. Winders, FL Bar No. 088860 033604 J. Kevin Carey, FL Bar No. 379387 0104272 CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, 0059404 EMMANUEL, SMITH & CUTLER, P.A. Post Office Box 3239 CUTLER, P.A. Tampa, FL 33601-3239 Tel:(813)223-7000/Fax:(813)229-4133 Sylvia H. Walbolt, FL Bar No.

Robert E. Biasotti, FL Bar No.

Joseph H. Lang, Jr., FL Bar No.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
I. AN HRS EMPLOYEE'S WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS TO HRS OFFICIALS, IDENTIFYING SUSPECTED VIOLATIONS OF LAW AND ACTS OF MISFEASANCE BY HRS IN A CHILD ABUSE CASE, ARE PROTECTED DISCLOSURES UNDER FLORIDA'S WHISTLE- BLOWER'S ACT 23
Florida's AW histle-Blower Act Must Be Construed Liberally To Give Access to a Remedy to Government Employees Who are Fired for Reporting Suspected Illegal or Improper Acts by Government Officials
Florida's Legislature Provided Public Employees The Broadest Possible Protection When It Defined Protected Disclosures in the Whistle-Blower's Act
The Secon CD istrict Erred When It Ruled, As A Matter Of Law, That Mrs. Irven's First Two Communications Were Not Whistle-Blower Acts
The Second District Erred By Refusing To Consider Mrs. Irven's Second Two Whistle-Blower Communications In Its Analysis
II. THE QUESTION OF WHETHER MRS. IRVEN

REASONABLY BELIEVED SHE WAS DISCLOSING
SUSPECTED VIOLATIONS OF LAW OR ACTS OF
MISFEASANCE WAS PROPERLY RESOLVED BY THE
JURY

## CONCLUSION 47

## CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

## CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

<u>Cases</u> <u>Page</u>
Baiton v. Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc., 661 So. 2d 313 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)
Cucchi v. New York City Off-Track Betting Corp., 818 F. Supp. 647 (S.D.N.Y 1993)
DeMarco v. Publix Super Markets, Inc., 384 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1980)
<u>Department of Health And Rehabilitative Servs. v. Irven,</u> 724 So. 2d 698 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) 2, 5, 19, 20, 23, 36, 42, 46
<u>Hutchison v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America, Inc.</u> , 645 So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994)
In Re Petition of the Florida Bar to Amend the Florida Rules of Juvenile Procedure, 589 So. 2d 818 (Fla. 1991) 10
<u>L.B. v. State</u> , 700 So. 2d 370 (Fla. 1997) 31
Lindamood v. Office of the State Attorney, Florida Ninth Judicial Circuit, 
Lowry v. Parole and Probation Comm'n, 473 So. 2d 1248 (Fla. 1985)
Martin County v. Edenfield, 609 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1992) 3, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29
<u>Moore v. Morris,</u> 475 So. 2d 666 (Fla. 1985)
Zombori v. Digital Equipment Corp., 878 F. Supp. 207 (N.D. Fla. 1995)
Zuckerman v. Alter, 615 So. 2d 661 (Fla. 1993) 31
Florida Statutes

Sections 112.3187-112.31895, Florida Statutes (1997) . 1, 2, 16, 25, 28, 30, 34, 35

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner/Plaintiff, Karen Irven, will be referred to as "Mrs. Irven." Respondent/Defendant, the Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, will be referred to as "HRS." The Florida Whistle-Blower's Act, sections 112.3187-112.31895, Florida Statutes (1997), is referred to as "the Act."

The appellate record is contained in eight (8) volumes. References to the record for volumes 1 - 6 and volume 8 are indicated as "Rx y-z," with "x" representing the volume number and "y-z" representing the page number(s).

Volume 7 of the record is a box containing the sixty (60) Plaintiff's exhibits and the fifty-nine (59) Defendant's exhibits that were marked for identification as evidence and either admitted, proffered, or withdrawn by the parties at trial. References to the trial exhibits are indicated as either "R7 Pl. Ex. x at y-z," (Plaintiff's exhibits) or either "R7 Def. Ex. x at y-z," (Defendant's exhibits) with "x" representing the exhibit number and "y-z" representing the page number(s).

The trial transcript for the proceedings held on November 3-12, 1997, is contained in twelve (12) volumes. References to the trial transcript will be designated as "Tx y-z," with "x" representing the transcript volume number and "y-z" representing the page number(s).

All emphasis in quotations from referenced authorities has been added unless otherwise indicated.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The petitioner, Mrs. Karen Irven ("Mrs. Irven"), filed an action against HRS under Florida's Whistle-Blower's Act, sections 112.3187-112.31895, Florida Statutes (1997). R1 64-85 (App. B)<sup>1</sup>. Mrs. Irven asserted that HRS illegally fired her in retaliation for her disclosure of suspected wrongdoing by HRS employees in a child abuse case (the "SS" case). <u>See id.</u> After a seven-day trial, the jury found HRS violated the Whistle-Blower's Act and awarded Mrs. Irven back pay and related damages. R6 at 1126-27. The trial court denied all post-trial motions by HRS. R6 1128, 1129. HRS filed a timely Notice of Appeal. R6 1133-35.

On appeal, the Second District concluded that, although Mrs. Irven was fired in retaliation for her disclosures concerning the SS case, her communications "[did] not fall within the specifics of the disclosure of information sought to be protected by the 'Whistle-Blower's Act.'" <u>Department of Health and Rehabilitative Servs. v.</u> <u>Irven</u>, 724 So. 2d 698, 704 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) (App. A).

The court ruled that, because the Whistle-Blower's Act waives sovereign immunity, the waiver "must be <u>strictly construed and applied</u>." <u>Id.</u> at 699. The Second District further ruled that Mrs. Irven's disclosures were not protected because, in the court's after-the-fact view, Mrs. Irven incorrectly interpreted the Florida rules concerning venue transfers in child dependency proceedings. <u>See id.</u> at 704. The Second District reversed the final judgment entered below, and instructed the trial court to enter a directed verdict in favor of HRS. <u>See id.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The opinion on review and other record documents referred to herein have been separately included in an appendix to this brief, and are referred to herein by both the record cite and by "App." followed by the appropriate appendix tab letter.

Mrs. Irven petitioned this Court for a discretionary review of the Second District's reversal, asserting the district court's decision expressly and directly conflicts with <u>Martin County v. Edenfield</u>, 609 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1992). In <u>Martin</u> <u>County</u>, this Court held the Whistle-Blower's Act "should be construed liberally in favor of granting access to the remedy." <u>Id.</u> at 29. This Court granted Mrs. Irven's petition for discretionary review.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

The facts of this cases are set forth in the light most favorable to Mrs. Irven because she was the prevailing party at trial and because the district court instructed the trial court to enter a directed verdict in favor of HRS.

#### A. <u>Overview</u>

Mrs. Irven began to work for the Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services ("HRS") as a Child Protection Investigator in August 1990. T3 400-01. Beginning in February 1994, Mrs. Irven sent a series of written communications to HRS regarding the manner in which it was handling a child abuse case (the "SS" case). In those communications, Mrs. Irven identified specific acts of suspected wrongdoing by HRS employees, and voiced her concerns about the effect that this wrongdoing had upon the child abuse victim. R1 73-85.

Before Mrs. Irven reported her suspicions of wrongdoing by HRS employees in the SS case, she consistently received superior or favorable ratings as an HRS employee. In her six performance evaluations between August 1990 to February 1994, Mrs. Irven earned an overall "exceeds" or "achieves," with superior or favorable ratings in 42 of the 43 individual categories in the evaluations. R7 Pl. Ex.

5 (App. F-5); <u>see also</u> T2 284. Mrs. Irven's supervisor described her work as "exceed[ing] performance standards," identifying her as "a valuable employee of Child Protective Investigations" whose "performance reflects her determination and disciplined approach to evaluating abuse/neglect referrals and planning for service interventions." R7 Pl. Ex. 5 (1/1/94) (App. F-5).

After Mrs. Irven reported the suspected wrongdoing by HRS in the SS case, she received, for the very first time, unfavorable employee reports, which raised complaints of "excessive overtime" and "excessive use of sick leave" that the jury later found to be unfounded. R7 Pl. Ex. 5 (6/10/94) (App. F-5). Three days after the second unfavorable report, HRS fired Mrs. Irven. R7 Pl. Ex. 21A (App. F-21).

#### B. <u>The "SS" Case</u>

In August 1993, four-year-old "SS" went to live with her maternal grandmother in Fernandina Beach, Florida, because the mother had no permanent place to live. R7 Pl. Ex. 10 (App. F-10). The mother had previously changed residences eighteen times in four years, between Fernandina Beach, Kissimmee, and Orlando. <u>See id.</u> Shortly after SS went to live with the grandmother, the grandmother initiated a child abuse report to HRS. SS had told her grandmother that she had been sexually molested by one of her mother's boyfriends. R7 Pl. Ex. 49 (App. F-49).

Nassau County HRS Child Protection Investigator Cynthia Halla ("Ms. Halla") and Fernandina Beach Police Detective Rhonda Saunderson initiated a child abuse investigation. R7 Pl. Ex. 49 (App. F-49). Ms. Halla interviewed SS and confirmed SS had been sexually abused more than once by her mother's boyfriend,

Glenn Essigman. R7 Pl. Ex. 49 (App. F-49). SS provided Ms. Halla with details of the digital penetration of her "privates," and indicated that the mother was present in the room during one of these sexual abuse incidents. R7 Pl. Ex. 49 (App. F-49). A subsequent medical examination by Judith Fitzgerald, D.O., disclosed that SS had genital trauma consistent with the sexual abuse allegations made by SS. R7 Pl. Ex. 49 (App. F-49); see also R7 Pl. Ex. 7 (App. F-7); Irven, 724 So. 2d at 720 (App. A). SS also told Ms. Halla she had observed Mr. Essigman beat her mother, adding the mother had been beaten a number of times by other men. R7 Pl. Ex. 49 (App. F-49). HRS employee Susan Oliver found evidence that the mother threatened harm to SS if she revealed the physical and/or sexual abuse by Mr. Essigman to anyone. See id.

On October 20, 1993, HRS filed a detention petition on behalf of SS in the Circuit Court in Nassau County, signed under oath by Ms. Halla and certified by HRS attorney Margaret Yarborough. R7 Pl. Ex. 7 (App. F-7). The court placed SS in the temporary legal custody of the grandmother, and specifically ordered that the child's mother "shall have only <u>supervised</u> contact with said child." <u>Id.</u> Further investigation by HRS disclosed that the mother had a history of addiction to crack cocaine, R7 Pl. Ex. 49 (App. F-49), and that SS had previously been placed under protective supervision and sheltered with the grandmother from December 1990 until December 1991--based on a finding of fact in the earlier dependency hearing that SS's older sister was sexually abused by another of the mother's boyfriends, Josiah Mixon. R7 Pl. Ex. 49 (App. F-49); <u>see also</u> T10 1481.

Ms. Halla filed an affidavit under the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act

indicating that, a month after HRS filed the detention petition, the mother moved to Polk County to live with her then paramour, Josiah Mixon. R7 Pl. Ex.\_10 (App. F-10). Mr. Mixon, who was released from prison in October 1993, was the same man who was found to have sexually abused SS's older sister in 1991. R7 Pl. Ex. 49 (App. F-49); see also T10 1481.

On December 16, 1993, HRS filed a dependency petition, again signed by Ms. Halla and certified by attorney Yarborough, asserting that SS was the victim of sexual molestation, and that the mother "failed to provide a stable and nurturing home environment, exposing the child to known felons, drugs, excessive drinking and has made numerous temporary moves, unable to provide the child with a stable address." R7 Pl. Ex 8 (App. F-8). The petition expressly asserted SS resided in Fernandina Beach, in <u>Nassau County</u>. <u>See id.</u> HRS also petitioned the court to appoint a guardian ad litem to represent SS's interests in this cause. <u>See id.</u> at 2.

On January 14, 1994, the mother made a motion for a change of venue, asserting Polk County was the most appropriate venue for this case because "[m]other and child are <u>usual residents</u> of Polk County," and "all witnesses and evidence are there located or are located nearby." R7 Pl. Ex. 11A (App. F-11). However, according to the sworn affidavit filed by Ms. Halla in support of the dependency petition, SS <u>never</u> lived in Polk County. R7 Pl. Ex. 10. Indeed, Ms. Halla testified in two sworn petitions that SS resided in Nassau County, not Polk County. R7 Pl. Ex. 7 (App. F-7); R7 Pl. Ex. 8 (App. F-8). Furthermore, most of the witnesses in the dependency action--the child, the grandmother, the HRS doctor who discovered evidence of sexual molestation, and the HRS and law enforcement

employees who conducted the child abuse investigation--were located in Nassau County, not Polk County. R7 Pl. Ex. 10 (App. F-10); R7 Pl. Ex. 49 (App. F-49); <u>see also R1 74</u>. The <u>only</u> witness who lived in Polk County was the mother--who moved there <u>after</u> the trial court entered the detention petition--to live with her convicted-felon-and-accused-child-molester paramour, Mr. Mixon. R7 Pl. Ex. 10 (App. F-10).

Astonishingly, HRS did not object to the mother's change of venue motion, agreeing in its response that the child's "usual" residence was in Polk County, even though SS had been placed in the custody of her grandmother in Nassau County. R7 Pl. Ex. 11B (App. F-11). HRS attorney Yarborough, who had earlier certified the pleadings asserting that SS resided in Nassau County, <u>now</u> asserted, without any explanation to the court, that the child's "usual" residence was instead in Polk County. <u>See id.</u>

On an agreed motion by HRS, the Nassau County circuit judge transferred the SS case to Polk County. R7 Pl. Ex. 11C (App. F-11); Pl. Ex. 12 (App. F-12). Because the court never appointed a guardian ad litem to represent SS pursuant to HRS's earlier petition, neither SS nor her temporary legal guardian (the grandmother) were present or represented at the change of venue hearing.

After the change of venue hearing but before HRS transferred the SS case to Polk County, Ms. Halla expressed concern, in writing, that she may have put SS at risk when she placed the child in the custody of the grandmother. R7 Pl. Ex. 49. Ms. Halla updated the SS file with the following observation<sup>2</sup>:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The original HRS report includes the abbreviations "Cx" for child, "Mx" for mother, and "Gx" for grandmother.

At this time there is concern for the child in the grandmother's care as it was found out the day of court that during the time the child was under [protective services supervision from] Flagler County, the grandmother left the child with the mother and the child was placed at risk several times when [law enforcement] attempted to arrest Josiah Mixon at the mother's home. The grandmother also told this CPI that she was no longer going to testify or her husband would 'beat the hell out of me.'... She [indicated] that the child needed to go with the mother and has allowed the mother unsupervised visitation with the child in the past, visits lasting for weeks at a time.

R7 Pl. Ex. 49 (App. F-49).

HRS then reassigned the SS case to Mrs. Irven, a Child Protective Investigator based in Polk County. R1 74 (App. B); T2 286. Accordingly, Mrs. Irven became the HRS employee who was primarily responsible for insuring the health, safety, and welfare of a sexually abused 4-year-old child who was living in Nassau County--250 miles away from Polk County.

#### C. <u>HRS Wrongdoing and Retaliation</u>

Immediately after the transfer of the SS case from Nassau County to Polk County, Mrs. Irven expressed concerns, in writing, that she could not responsibly oversee from Polk County the health, safety, or welfare of a sexually abused child living in Nassau County, nor could she prosecute a dependency action with the abused child and the fact witnesses located in Nassau County. R1 74 (App. B). Over the next several months, Mrs. Irven sent four written communications to HRS supervisors, HRS attorneys, and the HRS District Administrator, identifying wrongful actions by HRS employees that Mrs. Irven believed impacted the health, safety and welfare of "SS." R1 73-85 (App. B).

First, on February 7, 1994, Mrs. Irven sent a memo to her supervisor, Ms. Patricia Lawler ("Lawler"), and to two HRS attorneys, Roland Reis ("Reis") and Maria Mezzarella. R1 73-74 (App. B). Mrs. Irven reported that the HRS response to the venue transfer motion in the SS case incorrectly asserted that SS lived in Polk County when, in fact, the record demonstrated SS actually lived in Nassau County. <u>See id.</u>; R7 Pl. Ex. 7 (App. F-7); Pl. Ex. 8 (App. F-8); Pl. Ex. 10 (App. F-10). Mrs. Irven believed that HRS failed to comply with Florida Rule of Juvenile Procedure 8.530<sup>3</sup>, when it consented to the transfer of the SS case. R1 73-74.

In addition to the procedural deficiencies associated with the change of venue, Mrs. Irven asserted that she could not adequately investigate this case because most of the witnesses were located outside of Polk County and the child abuse victim was living <u>hundreds of miles away</u> in Nassau County. R1 73-74 (App. B). Mrs. Irven was particularly concerned with Ms. Halla's observation that she may have put SS at risk when she placed the child in the custody of the grandmother. Ms. Irven stated in her memo:

[t]here appears to be a question as to whether the child should have been sheltered and a petition brought. The child was placed in shelter in Nassau County. To not file a petition now, would create a liability question which I don't feel I, nor Polk County, should have to bear.

R1 75 (App. B).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As Mrs. Irven indicated in her complaint, <u>see R1 66 (App. B)</u>, former rule 8.530 was renumbered as rule 8.205, Fla. R. Juv. P. <u>See In Re Petition of the Florida Bar to Amend the Florida Rules of Juvenile Procedure</u>, 589 So. 2d 818, 837 (Fla. 1991) (effective July 1, 1991).

Shortly after Mrs. Irven sent the February 7, 1994, memo to Ms. Lawler, HRS promoted Ms. Lawler and Ms. Linda Fuchs became Mrs. Irven's new supervisor. T10 1458. On February 20, 1994, Mrs. Irven sent a follow-up memo to Ms. Fuchs, with copies to Ms. Sue Gray, Ms. Harriet Powell, and Ms. Lawler, explaining in greater detail the problems she identified in her earlier memo:

> The Abuse Report printed on 1/31/94 by John Chabott, CPIS, states that Ms. Halla is concerned for the child's safety in the grandmother's care. . . . It appears HRS Polk County has prematurely accepted this case in which a child has been placed at risk by Nassau County's poor placement of the child and their failure to rectify the situation. . . . I can not defend or support Ms. [Halla's] petition in court. I have no first hand evidence, only hearsay from Ms. Halla which is not admissible in court. I can not adequately investigate this case with all of the witnesses located out of the county. I can not [assess] the safety, risk, or well-being of the child, located in Nassau [County], or act as the case manager.

R1 at 75 (App. B).

Rather that commending Mrs. Irven for having the courage to raise her good faith concerns over the HRS mishandling of this child abuse case, HRS instead chastised Mrs. Irven for putting her concerns in writing. On March 4, 1999, HRS Program Administrator Ann Hipson responded in writing to Mrs. Irven, declaring that her February 20th memo to Ms. Fuchs was "not an effective way, nor a professional way to deal with what you obviously found to be a distressful situation. . . . It detracts from your credibility as a professional." R7 Pl. Ex. 16 (App. F-16). Ms. Hipson concluded by warning "[i]t is not wise for you to jeopardize your reputation . . . over the way you choose to handle conflict." <u>Id.</u>

Shortly after Mr. Reis and Ms. Fuchs informed Mrs. Irven that the SS case

was not going to be transferred back to Nassau County, they directed her to file an amended dependency petition in the SS case. T2 322-325; R1 at 68, 82 (App. B). Ms. Fuchs told Mrs. Irven that the original petition filed by Ms. Halla "is not going to fly." R7 Pl. Ex. 14 (App. F-14). Mrs. Irven explained to both Mr. Reis and Ms. Fuchs that, because she had no personal knowledge of the facts that needed to be alleged in the amended petition, it would be "inappropriate, misleading, and potentially fraudulent to represent in the petition that she had the requisite knowledge." R1 at 82 (App. B).

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