IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KAREN IRVEN,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

v.

Supreme Court Case No. 94,926

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES,

Second DCA Case No. 97-05373

Defendant/Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT,
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Second District, State of Florida

> David H. McClain Florida Bar No. 052048 McClain & Associates, P.A. 1000 N. Ashley Drive, #105 Tampa, Florida 33602-3719

Tel: 813/221-1331 Fax: 813/223-7881

Attorneys for Respondent, Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services

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

that HRS Polk County would be handling it. To continue to contend "premature acceptance" by HRS Polk County was unreasonable.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN ITS CONSTRUCTION AND APPLICATION OF THE "WHISTLE-BLOWER'S ACT."

Petitioner argues aggressively that the Second District was in error because after determining that the "Whistle-Blower's Act" did waive sovereign immunity, it held that,

[B]ecause any waiver of sovereign immunity must be clear and unequivocal (see <u>Spangler v. Florida State Turnpike Authority</u>, 106 So.2d 421 (Fla. 1958)), the waiver must be limited to the acts or conduct clearly and unequivocally prohibited or protected against. Therefore, the waiver must be strictly construed and applied. A protection against acts not clearly delineated as prohibited or protected must not be implied.

<u>Irven</u>, 724 So.2d at 699.

Petitioner argues that this holding conflicts with the holding in <u>Martin County</u>, where this Court held that because the "Whistle-Blower's Act" is a remedial act, "the statute should be construed liberally in favor of <u>granting access to the remedy</u>." (emphasis added) <u>Martin County</u>, 609 So.2d at 29.

HRS submits, however, that Second District merely restates established legal principle that a statutory waiver of sovereign immunity must be strictly construed. HRS further submits that this principle does not conflict with the holding in <u>Martin</u> County.

Martin County involved an assistant road superintendent for Martin County, Florida, Willie Edenfield, who used county trucks to deliver sod to his supervisor's residence. The sod was billed

to and paid for by Martin County. Edenfield was later contacted about the incident and subsequently admitted his involvement and implicated his supervisor. <u>Martin County</u>, 609 So.2d at 28.

Edenfield was then moved into an inferior job. He complained of the disparate treatment he received and afterwards brought suit against the county under the "Whistle-Blower's Act." Martin County moved for and was granted a summary judgment which was overturned by the district court on the grounds that "the statute does not create an exception for whistle-blowers who are in pari delicto with the wrongdoers whose malfeasance they have revealed." Id.

The issue on appeal to the Florida Supreme Court was whether complainants, such as Edenfield, are protected by the Act when they, themselves, had participated in the wrongdoing about which they blew the whistle. <u>Id.</u>

In deciding for Edenfield, the Court construed the statute liberally to grant Edenfield access to the whistle-blowing remedy. This was the only issue therein, and the Court approved the result reached by the district court, that the statute did not create an exception for whistle-blowers who participated in the wrong doing, themselves. No constitutional issues were raised, either as to waiver of sovereign immunity or interpretation.

In <u>Irven</u>, the Second District addressed a constitutional waiver issue and determined, in fact, that the Act clearly and

unequivocally waived sovereign immunity. The district court held further that because the Act was in derogation of sovereign immunity, it must be strictly construed and applied. The court defined its parameters of construction and application by stating that it would not imply a protection against acts not clearly delineated as prohibited or protected. Irven, 724 So.2d at 699. This holding in no way changes or conflicts with the holding in Martin County granting liberal access to the remedy. Rather, it is consistent with established principles regarding the interpretation of legislative waivers. "Waiver of immunity statutes' are to be strictly construed. This is so for the obvious reason that the immunity of the sovereign is a part of the public policy of the state." Spangler, 106 So.2d at 424.

This principle of strict construction of legislative waivers of sovereign immunity is most pronounced in cases involving Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, Waiver of sovereign immunity in tort actions.

In <u>Metropolitan Dade County v. Reyes</u>, 688 So.2d 311, (Fla. 1996), a deliveryman was injured in a slip and fall at a county jail. Joining his claim for injuries, his wife brought a derivative claim for consortium against the county. While the injured husband had provided the formal notice of intent to proceed required by Section 768.28(6), Florida Statutes (1989), the wife did not provide her own notice. The trial court, therein, entered a directed verdict against the wife for her

failure to provide such notice. The Third District reversed, concluding that the wife was not required to give separate notice of her derivative claim. <u>Id.</u>, at 312.

The Florida Supreme Court, while interpreting Section 768.28(6) to resolve this issue, stated:

In interpreting legislative waivers of sovereign immunity, we have repeatedly stated that we must strictly construe such waivers. (citations omitted) The plain language of section 768.28(6)(a) clearly indicates that each claimant must give the proper notice. (emphasis added)

Id., at 313.

This case was not one of whether there was a waiver of sovereign immunity, there was. The issue, rather, involved a substantive element of the statute, itself. As in the instant "whistle-blowing" case, the substantive element was strictly construed.

Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, was again strictly construed in Levine v. Dade County School Board, 442 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1983), where an injured student brought claim against the school board after he was severely beaten by other students. He claimed that school board employees failed to maintain order and supervise the activities of the students. Prior to initiating his suit, he provided written notice of his claim to the school board, but not to the State Department of Insurance within the time frame required by Section 768.28(6), Florida Statutes (1977). Id., at 211.

The trial court dismissed the complaint with prejudice because the plaintiff would not have been able to amend his complaint to allege that the notice had been timely given. In opposition to the dismissal, the plaintiff filed an amended complaint with an attached affidavit of an official of the Department of Insurance explaining the departments minimal role in claims against school districts. On appeal, the district court, while recognizing some merit in the plaintiff's argument that the notice requirement should not be deemed a strict condition precedent, affirmed the trial court, holding that the notice requirements were conditions precedent to maintaining a suit. Id.

The issue presented to the Supreme Court was whether notification to the Department of Insurance, pursuant to Section 768.28(6), Florida Statutes (1977), was necessary under the circumstances of the case.

In considering the language of the statute, the Court "speculated" as to the role the Department may have in lawsuits against departments and agencies of the executive branch of state government, and further speculated about whether a failure to except county school districts from the statutory notice may have been inadvertent. <u>Id.</u>, at 212. The Court then commented:

Such speculation, however does not authorize us to ignore the <u>plain language of the statute</u>. . . . Because this subsection is part of the statutory waiver of sovereign immunity, it must be <u>strictly construed</u>. (citations omitted) (emphasis added)

Id.

The Second District's decision in the instant case follows these same principles of interpretation. It held that because it must strictly construe and apply the statute, it cannot imply any protections "against acts not clearly delineated as prohibited or protected." Irven, 724 So.2d at 699. This is a plain language standard. Oddly, the converse of this principle of strict construction, the one espoused by petitioner, would be that the Courts may imply protections not delineated in this waiver statute.

Significantly, this Court in <u>Martin County</u> used the same plain language standard used in both the <u>Metropolitan Dade County</u> and <u>Levine</u> cases: "Although Martin County urges us to find ambiguity in the statute, <u>we believe the language is plain</u> and supports the conclusions reached by the district court."

(emphasis added) <u>Martin County</u>, 609 So.2d at 29. The Court, essentially, did not read elements into the Act which were not delineated.

The implications (consequences) of a liberal interpretation of the substantive elements of the "Whistle-Blower's Act" are demonstrated in the instant case. Above and beyond the four documents alleged in her Amended Complaint, Mrs. Irven, in her Answer Brief to the Second District, argued "whistle-blowing" status for four additional documents. (App. H)

In injecting these additional documents as "whistle-blowing" documents, Mrs. Irven argued:

Here, the numerous letters and memos that Irven sent to persons above her immediate supervisor plainly constituted disclosures protected by the Act.

Significantly, Irven's memos go well beyond the memoranda referenced by HRS in its brief (February 7, 1994 memo to Reis and February 20, 1994 letter to Fuchs). . .

In summary, the Act protected numerous written documents presented to the jury. Because the jury's verdict could have been based on any one (or more) of these documents, the verdict must be sustained, even if - as HRS incorrectly contends - - some of the documents were not legally sufficient to come within the Act.

(App. H)

Only an unfettered interpretation of the Act permits such a contention. These additional "whistle-blowing" documents are the February 10, 1994 memorandum to Mr. Reis asking for the SS case to be transferred, a March 4, 1994, letter to HRS Protective Services, a March 16, 1994, memorandum to the Nassau County CPI, and an April 18, 1994, grievance in response to a counseling memorandum. (App. H)

Petitioner, in her Initial Brief at page 18, continues to maintain the argument that these same documents establish whistle-blowing.

The February 10, 1994 memorandum to Mr. Reis, in fact, only requests HRS attorney Reis to request transfer of the S.S. case, and states Mrs. Irven's reasons for the request. R7 Pl. Ex. 6C (App. F-6C). There is absolutely no statement, no assertion, and

no allegation of any nature in this memorandum of a "whistle-blowing" nature. The memorandum is only what it purports to be, an interoffice memorandum without allegations of wrongful conduct on the part of HRS.

The March 4, 1994, memorandum to HRS Protective Services, in its entirety, states: "'S' needs to be in therapy & have a Psy Eval. She also needs to be placed in day care. Thanks." R7 Pl. Ex. 9A (App. F-9A). Again, this is simply a memorandum without any "whistle-blowing," whatsoever.

The March 16, 1994, letter to Ms. Cynthia Halla, of Nassau County, discusses the S.S. case, but only in the context of what has been done and what needs to be done. R7 Pl. Ex. 9C (App. F-9C). The only "complaint" Mrs. Irven raises in this letter is that she has had trouble contacting Ms. Halla. Once again, however, there is not one mention of any incident, or any allegation that even approaches "whistle-blowing."

The April 18, 1994, grievance was prepared by Mrs. Irven in response to an April 7, 1994, counseling memorandum from Ms. Fuchs regarding Mrs. Irven's overtime, work hours, and work station. Mrs. Irven's grievance addresses only those issues. There is, again, no "whistle-blowing." She merely grieves the counseling memorandum. R7 Def. Ex. 38 at 28-34 (App. G-38J).

These documents are patently not "whistle-blowing" documents, yet Mrs. Irven contends that, under a liberal interpretation of the Act, they are "whistle-blowing." These

documents, as written, evidence no more than the everyday activity of give and take within any agency. To accept them as "whistle-blowing" would make <u>any</u> and <u>every</u> disagreement within an agency the potential basis of a "whistle-blower" action.

The Second District was correct in not implying any protections "against acts not clearly delineated as prohibited or protected." Applying this plain language standard, the district court concluded that Mrs. Irven's communications were not "whistle-blower" acts protected by the "Whistle-Blower's Act." Irven, 724 So.2d at 699.

II. MRS. IRVEN'S INTERNAL MEMORANDA, AS A MATTER OF LAW, DID NOT CONSTITUTE WHISTLE-BLOWING UNDER SECTION 112.3187, FLORIDA STATUTES.

HRS contends that because Mrs. Irven's communications, as a matter of law, did not constitute "whistle-blowing," this cause of action should never have been presented to a jury.

Petitioner, however, at trial, in her answer brief to the Second District, and in her initial brief to this Court, attempts to misdirect the issues by denouncing HRS for allegedly mishandling the S.S. case. The issue, here, however, is not about how well HRS may have handled the S.S. case, but about whether Mrs. Irven "blew the whistle" pursuant to Section 112.3187, Florida Statutes (1993).

In her amended complaint, Mrs. Irven lists four documents which she alleges "blew the whistle" on HRS. Of these four documents, the first two, the February 7, 1994, memorandum to

Attorney Reis, and the February 20, 1994, letter to Ms. Fuchs are, in fact, the genesis of this action. While these documents definitely demonstrate her reluctance to handle the S.S. case they do not, however, allege any conduct on the part of HRS that even remotely meets the "whistle-blowing" standards.

The other two documents which Mrs. Irven considers "whistle-blowing" are her grievance of April 18, 1994, in response to a counseling memorandum she received, and her attorney's letter of June 21, 1994, in support of the same grievance. This June 21, 1994 letter, in fact, mentions "whistle-blowing" for the first time, but only in the context of the original two documents and then to allege retaliation for those documents. In their own context, the grievance and the June 21 letter, however, do not "whistle-blow" themselves, but rather reference the two February documents and allege retaliation therefrom. The grievance, in fact, does not even make reference to the S.S. case. In it, Mrs. Irven only contends in a generic sense that she has been "singled out" and "targeted."

All of the information which Mrs. Irven "disclosed" in her two February 1994, communications was available to the courts as well as the opposing parties, was subject to the discretion and direction of the HRS attorneys handling the matter before the courts, and ultimately was subject to the discretion of the courts. Under these circumstances, her disclosures can not be "whistle-blowing" under the Act.

Petitioner, in her Initial Brief makes four primary arguments which she contends evidence her "whistle-blowing."

First, she argues that her chief complaint did not involve venue, but rather involved the safety of S.S. Second, she argues that HRS erroneously moved for a change in venue to Polk County based on the usual residence of the mother and child in Polk County. Third, she argues that HRS "pressured" her to sign an amended petition, thereby asking her to commit perjury. Fourth, she argues that her suspicions of misfeasance by HRS were sufficient under the Act. She argues secondarily that the legitimacy of her misgiving is demonstrated by the concerns raised by Ms. Halla, the Nassau County CPI, about the placement of S.S. with the grandmother.

A. As to her first argument, that the issue was not one of venue, her own documents demonstrate otherwise. In her February 7 memorandum to Mr. Reis, she begins: "Polk County has no jurisdiction in the S.S. case for the following reasons," and continues in paragraph number 1, "It appears HRS Polk County has prematurely accepted a case which didn't happen in Polk County." (emphasis added) She then describes other reasons to substantiate her "no jurisdiction" contention. In her February 20 letter to Ms. Fuchs, Mrs. Irven comments: "I was informed on 2/11/94, by you, that the S.S. case was accepted by the Tenth Judicial Circuir (sic) Court of Polk County, Fl." Curiously, she

further comments that "[i]t appears HRS Polk County has <u>prematurely accepted</u> this case . . ." (emphasis added) This entire "whistle-blowing" action, as it involves Mrs. Irven, <u>began</u> as an issue about venue.

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